
JOINT AIRPORT COMMISSION / UTILITIES COMMISSION MINUTES 
Thursday, February 25, 2016 – 9:30 a.m. 

City Hall, Council Chambers, Vero Beach, Florida 
 
PRESENT:  Airport Commission:  Chairman, Barbara Drndak; Vice Chairman, 
Richard Cantner; Members:  Melvin Wood, Arthur Hodge, Louise Vocelle, Jr., Alternate 
Member #1, Mary Wood and Alternate Member #2, Carole Jean Jordan  Utilities 
Commission:  Members: Judy Orcutt, Stephen Lapointe, Bill Teston, J. Rock Tonkel, 
Laura Moss, and Alternate Member #1, Victor DeMattia Also Present: City Manager, 
James O’Connor; Airport Director, Eric Menger and Deputy City Clerk, Sherri Philo 
 
Utilities Commission Excused Absences:  Robert Auwaerter, Chuck Mechling, and 
Richard McDermott, Jr. 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 
Today’s meeting was called to order at 9:30 a.m.   
 
2. SOLAR FARM PRESENTATION – ConEdison Solutions  
 
*Please note that questions and discussion took place throughout the presentation. 
 
Mrs. Drndak explained that the purpose of today’s meeting is to discuss the potential for 
a solar farm at the Airport that would tie into the City of Vero Beach utilities.   
 
Mr. Eric Menger, Airport Director, said they began thinking about having a solar farm at 
the Airport through the Airport Master Plan process.  He reported that ConEdison 
Solutions prepared the Feasibility Study at no cost to the City in an effort to educate them 
and to see what type of facility would work at the Airport.   
 
Mr. Craig Fisher, of ConEdison Solutions, said that he would be presenting a Feasibility 
Study on the possibility of locating solar photovoltaic systems at the Airport.  He then 
gave a Power Point presentation on Solar Photovoltaic Feasibility at the Vero Beach 
Regional Airport (attached to the original minutes).   
 
Mrs. Moss referred to page 12, under the bullet point, JEA – Issued 3 phases of solar 
RFP’s in 2015 Florida Municipal Solar in 2015, where Mr. Fisher stated, “The 
developers who were awarded the projects are looking for investors like ConEdison and 
he reviewed the economics and plan to compete for long term ownership and operation of 
these assets.”  She asked Mr. Fisher to explain what he meant by “ownership.” 
 
Mr. Fisher explained that a lot of small scale developers answered the Request for 
Proposal (RFP).  They submitted to JEA a price per megawatt hour that they believed the 
investors would be interested in taking ownership.  Once JEA finalizes a Power Purchase 
Agreement (PPA) at that negotiated rate with that early developer, that early developer 
needs to find an investor that would finance the construction of the project.  What that 

     1  02/25/16  
 



basically means is ConEdison Solutions would take ownership of that project and the 
PPA for the next 20 years.  ConEdison Solutions would finance the project, construct the 
project, and own and operate it for the 20 year term of the agreement.  JEA would only be 
responsible for purchasing the power.     
 
Mrs. Moss asked how does the project relate to property taxes.   
 
Mr. Fisher said ConEdison Solutions would be financing the ownership of the solar 
system on the property.  They also would have a site lease agreement with the property 
owner, which is also a cost that is factored in.   
 
Mrs. Moss asked does that mean that ConEdison would be paying property taxes because 
they have the lease. 
 
Mr. Fisher answered yes.  He said with some projects the owner developers went to the 
County and negotiated payment in lieu of taxes, which is a negotiated rate below the full 
property tax value.  He said it basically is seen as an economic tax abatement. 
 
Mrs. Moss referred to page 10, Legislative Update.  She asked how far along is the 
legislation and how will it affect contracts that are already signed.    
 
Mr. Fisher said a lot of the projects were approved by JEA, the site lease agreements are 
in place, and a lot of the early developers are waiting to see how the legislation goes 
through the Florida legislative process before they accept offers.   
 
Mrs. Drndak said that she has been watching the State Bill on exempting solar, but there 
was already a Constitutional Amendment that passed a few years ago.  She asked how is 
it that the State Legislature can continue to deny what is already in the State Constitution.   
 
Mr. Fisher said solar farms that already exist in the State of Florida have to pay property 
taxes.  He said this Bill would alleviate that.   
 
Mr. Tonkel referred to page 14, VRB Airport Solar Opportunity - Estimated Project Cost.  
He asked is the estimated project cost in today’s dollars.   
 
Mr. Fisher answered yes.  He said it is a preliminary estimate in which once they do the 
engineering, that number would be plus or minus 10 %.  He noted that this price is for an 
investor to build the system if it is procured through a PPA.   
 
Mr. Tonkel asked what would the cost be per megawatt hour.   
 
Mr. Fisher said they project the range to be somewhere between $60 to $80 per megawatt 
hour.   
 
Mr. Baczynski referred to page 14, Annual Production: 33,580 MWh.  He presumed that 
is based on average weather patterns.    

     2  02/25/16  
 



Mr. Fisher said that is correct.  He said the weather file that was put into the simulated 
model came from the Vero Beach Airport. 
 
Mr. Vocelle asked does ConEdison own or operate a system that has been through a 
hurricane. 
 
Mr. Fisher answered yes.  He said several of their systems located in the northeast went 
through Super Storm Sandy and they had very little damage to the infrastructure.  He said 
they might have had one or two panels that came loose, but they passed through the storm 
with flying colors.  Last year they had a system with over 1,100 panels that went through 
a tornado and they only lost three (3).  He reported that these systems have been tried and 
tested and structurally engineered with storms in mind.   
 
Mr. Tonkel asked has the City’s Finance Department looked at this. 
 
Mr. James O’Connor, City Manager, answered no.  He noted that the two options are 
options the City is currently trying to get out of, which are the 25 year commitment to a 
power supply and getting out of power generation.   
 
Mr. Fisher explained that what they are currently doing is providing the basic details for 
staff to go back and evaluate.  This is just showing the options from a procurement 
standpoint and what they would be looking at in terms of the cost of energy. 
 
Mrs. Moss said it appears that the annual operations and maintenance (O&M) costs 
increases almost 50% by year 20.  She asked what is that based on. 
 
Mr. Fisher said it is a 2% annual escalation in O&M price, which is pretty much the 
industry standard.   
 
Mrs. Moss asked what is the industry standard based on. 
 
Mr. Fisher said it is based on the Consumer Price Index (CPI). 
 
Mr. Tonkel asked is the cost of debt to finance the project in determining the possible 
rates that would be established included in the proforma provided. 
 
Mr. Fisher answered yes.  He said it is 3%, which is their current market rate for a 20-
year tax exempt lease purchase. 
 
Mr. Randy Old, Vice Mayor, said that he put a PV system on his home about six (6) 
years ago and now everything is better and he cannot change it out.  He asked as 
efficiency of the solar system gets better, is there a way to change out the panels or would 
they be locked in with the old system.   
 

     3  02/25/16  
 



Mr. Fisher said that could be negotiated in the PPA.  He said the panels are about 33% of 
the overall cost of the project.  The panels have a 25 year warranty so it is typically not 
something that is done.   
 
Mrs. Orcutt assumed that the City would have to put out an RFP to get the best price for 
the ratepayers.  She asked at what point does that fit into the process. 
 
Mr. Fisher said the volume of work they are currently doing is at their (ConEdison 
Solutions) risk.  If the City was to decide they do not want to move forward then that is 
ConEdison Solutions cost of doing business and they accept that.   
 
Mr. Baczynski asked Mr. Fisher to send the Commission members information on the 
change of efficiency in panels over the past 20 years, as well as the change in the cost of 
panels over the past 20 years.   
 
Mr. Fisher said since he has been involved in these projects (2008), he has seen the 
panels go from about 14% to about18% in efficiency. 
 
Mr. Teston asked if there is a failure in panels, can they change out the panels without 
shutting down the system.   
 
Mr. Fisher said they can change out panels live.  He reported that under the maintenance 
of the system, they would take one inverter off line at a time. 
 
Mr. Teston asked what is the failure rate of panels. 
 
Mr. Fisher said it is less than 1%.   
 
Mrs. Moss asked Mr. Fisher who he prepared this presentation for.  . 
 
Mr. Fisher said the idea of locating solar was in the Airport Master Plan.  He said that he 
offered to do this early development at their own cost to show the City what it would 
mean to own a solar system.   
 
Mrs. Moss said that she was trying to place this within the context of the Orlando 
Utilities Commission (OUC) contract and the Florida Municipal Power Association 
(FMPA) contract.  She asked when do these contracts end and what is the City required 
to spend on the OUC contract.   
 
Mr. O’Connor said the FMPA contracts probably have 40 years, depending on the life of 
the St. Lucie Plant.  But, that is a small component.  The City’s power supply is really 
with OUC and the renegotiated contract expires in seven (7) years.  He noted that 23 
megawatts would not be an issue.   
 
Mrs. Drndak said the interest of the Airport is the lease of the land.  She asked the 
Utilities Commission members if they felt this would make sense for the City.   

     4  02/25/16  
 



Mr. O’Connor noted that the two (2) options that are viable in this are two (2) options the 
City extricated themselves from and he not sure ready to jump back into that hot oil 
again.    
 
Mr. Dick Winger, Councilmember, said the current cost of acquired power is about $71 
and they are not satisfied with that cost.  He said the City could do better if they didn’t 
have the contracts they have.  The City has been going in the direction of getting out of 
the power business.     
 
Mrs. Moss said this information was very helpful and thanked the Airport Commission 
for inviting the Utilities Commission to today’s meeting.  She felt that if they were going 
to further explore this, that they have a joint Utilities/Finance Commission meeting.     
 
3. PUBLIC COMMENT 
 
Mr. Tim Zorc, Indian River County Commissioner, said the goal of the Airport should be 
to increase revenue by renting property, but they should also look at things that drive 
down costs.  He said the County is looking to save $500,000 to $600,000 a year on their 
campus (County Building A and B and the Health Department Building) in electricity by 
installing a combined heat and power (CHP) system.  He noted that this is a 24 hour 
system so when the sun goes down the system still runs.   
 
Mrs. Drndak reported that Mr. O’Connor wanted to address the Utilities Commission 
regarding a proposed Resolution.   
 
Mr. O’Connor reported that he just received the proposed Resolution (on file in the City 
Clerk’s office) yesterday so he did not have time to vet it through the process (referring to 
a Resolution to express support for the construction of the Groveland Reservoir and 
Treatment area and requesting the St. John’s Water Management District (SJWMD) to 
protect and preserve the Florida Aquifer Public Water Supply by restricting withdrawals 
from the Floridan Aquifer for electric utility use).  He reported that there would be a 
Technical Staff Advisory Report that would be going before the Board of the SJWMD 
next week.  He reported that it was first believed that the City had until March 7, 2016 to 
submit their comments, but they have until April.   He asked the Utilities Commission to 
put this off until their next regularly scheduled meeting to allow the City to do their due 
diligence.      
 
4. ADJOURNMENT 
 
Today’s Joint Airport Commission / Utilities Commission meeting adjourned at 11:49 
a.m.  and the Airport Commission called their regular meeting to order at 12:04 p.m. 
 
/sp 

     5  02/25/16  
 


	JOINT AIRPORT COMMISSION / UTILITIES COMMISSION MINUTES
	Thursday, February 25, 2016 – 9:30 a.m.
	City Hall, Council Chambers, Vero Beach, Florida
	PRESENT:  Airport Commission:  Chairman, Barbara Drndak; Vice Chairman, Richard Cantner; Members:  Melvin Wood, Arthur Hodge, Louise Vocelle, Jr., Alternate Member #1, Mary Wood and Alternate Member #2, Carole Jean Jordan  Utilities Commission:  Members: Judy Orcutt, Stephen Lapointe, Bill Teston, J. Rock Tonkel, Laura Moss, and Alternate Member #1, Victor DeMattia Also Present: City Manager, James O’Connor; Airport Director, Eric Menger and Deputy City Clerk, Sherri Philo
	Utilities Commission Excused Absences:  Robert Auwaerter, Chuck Mechling, and Richard McDermott, Jr.
	1. CALL TO ORDER
	Today’s meeting was called to order at 9:30 a.m.  
	2. SOLAR FARM PRESENTATION – ConEdison Solutions 
	*Please note that questions and discussion took place throughout the presentation.
	Mrs. Drndak explained that the purpose of today’s meeting is to discuss the potential for a solar farm at the Airport that would tie into the City of Vero Beach utilities.  
	Mr. Eric Menger, Airport Director, said they began thinking about having a solar farm at the Airport through the Airport Master Plan process.  He reported that ConEdison Solutions prepared the Feasibility Study at no cost to the City in an effort to educate them and to see what type of facility would work at the Airport.  
	Mr. Craig Fisher, of ConEdison Solutions, said that he would be presenting a Feasibility Study on the possibility of locating solar photovoltaic systems at the Airport.  He then gave a Power Point presentation on Solar Photovoltaic Feasibility at the Vero Beach Regional Airport (attached to the original minutes).  
	Mrs. Moss referred to page 12, under the bullet point, JEA – Issued 3 phases of solar RFP’s in 2015 Florida Municipal Solar in 2015, where Mr. Fisher stated, “The developers who were awarded the projects are looking for investors like ConEdison and he reviewed the economics and plan to compete for long term ownership and operation of these assets.”  She asked Mr. Fisher to explain what he meant by “ownership.”
	Mr. Fisher explained that a lot of small scale developers answered the Request for Proposal (RFP).  They submitted to JEA a price per megawatt hour that they believed the investors would be interested in taking ownership.  Once JEA finalizes a Power Purchase Agreement (PPA) at that negotiated rate with that early developer, that early developer needs to find an investor that would finance the construction of the project.  What that basically means is ConEdison Solutions would take ownership of that project and the PPA for the next 20 years.  ConEdison Solutions would finance the project, construct the project, and own and operate it for the 20 year term of the agreement.  JEA would only be responsible for purchasing the power.    
	Mrs. Moss asked how does the project relate to property taxes.  
	Mr. Fisher said ConEdison Solutions would be financing the ownership of the solar system on the property.  They also would have a site lease agreement with the property owner, which is also a cost that is factored in.  
	Mrs. Moss asked does that mean that ConEdison would be paying property taxes because they have the lease.
	Mr. Fisher answered yes.  He said with some projects the owner developers went to the County and negotiated payment in lieu of taxes, which is a negotiated rate below the full property tax value.  He said it basically is seen as an economic tax abatement.
	Mrs. Moss referred to page 10, Legislative Update.  She asked how far along is the legislation and how will it affect contracts that are already signed.   
	Mr. Fisher said a lot of the projects were approved by JEA, the site lease agreements are in place, and a lot of the early developers are waiting to see how the legislation goes through the Florida legislative process before they accept offers.  
	Mrs. Drndak said that she has been watching the State Bill on exempting solar, but there was already a Constitutional Amendment that passed a few years ago.  She asked how is it that the State Legislature can continue to deny what is already in the State Constitution.  
	Mr. Fisher said solar farms that already exist in the State of Florida have to pay property taxes.  He said this Bill would alleviate that.  
	Mr. Tonkel referred to page 14, VRB Airport Solar Opportunity - Estimated Project Cost.  He asked is the estimated project cost in today’s dollars.  
	Mr. Fisher answered yes.  He said it is a preliminary estimate in which once they do the engineering, that number would be plus or minus 10 %.  He noted that this price is for an investor to build the system if it is procured through a PPA.  
	Mr. Tonkel asked what would the cost be per megawatt hour.  
	Mr. Fisher said they project the range to be somewhere between $60 to $80 per megawatt hour.  
	Mr. Baczynski referred to page 14, Annual Production: 33,580 MWh.  He presumed that is based on average weather patterns.   
	Mr. Fisher said that is correct.  He said the weather file that was put into the simulated model came from the Vero Beach Airport.
	Mr. Vocelle asked does ConEdison own or operate a system that has been through a hurricane.
	Mr. Fisher answered yes.  He said several of their systems located in the northeast went through Super Storm Sandy and they had very little damage to the infrastructure.  He said they might have had one or two panels that came loose, but they passed through the storm with flying colors.  Last year they had a system with over 1,100 panels that went through a tornado and they only lost three (3).  He reported that these systems have been tried and tested and structurally engineered with storms in mind.  
	Mr. Tonkel asked has the City’s Finance Department looked at this.
	Mr. James O’Connor, City Manager, answered no.  He noted that the two options are options the City is currently trying to get out of, which are the 25 year commitment to a power supply and getting out of power generation.  
	Mr. Fisher explained that what they are currently doing is providing the basic details for staff to go back and evaluate.  This is just showing the options from a procurement standpoint and what they would be looking at in terms of the cost of energy.
	Mrs. Moss said it appears that the annual operations and maintenance (O&M) costs increases almost 50% by year 20.  She asked what is that based on.
	Mr. Fisher said it is a 2% annual escalation in O&M price, which is pretty much the industry standard.  
	Mrs. Moss asked what is the industry standard based on.
	Mr. Fisher said it is based on the Consumer Price Index (CPI).
	Mr. Tonkel asked is the cost of debt to finance the project in determining the possible rates that would be established included in the proforma provided.
	Mr. Fisher answered yes.  He said it is 3%, which is their current market rate for a 20-year tax exempt lease purchase.
	Mr. Randy Old, Vice Mayor, said that he put a PV system on his home about six (6) years ago and now everything is better and he cannot change it out.  He asked as efficiency of the solar system gets better, is there a way to change out the panels or would they be locked in with the old system.  
	Mr. Fisher said that could be negotiated in the PPA.  He said the panels are about 33% of the overall cost of the project.  The panels have a 25 year warranty so it is typically not something that is done.  
	Mrs. Orcutt assumed that the City would have to put out an RFP to get the best price for the ratepayers.  She asked at what point does that fit into the process.
	Mr. Fisher said the volume of work they are currently doing is at their (ConEdison Solutions) risk.  If the City was to decide they do not want to move forward then that is ConEdison Solutions cost of doing business and they accept that.  
	Mr. Baczynski asked Mr. Fisher to send the Commission members information on the change of efficiency in panels over the past 20 years, as well as the change in the cost of panels over the past 20 years.  
	Mr. Fisher said since he has been involved in these projects (2008), he has seen the panels go from about 14% to about18% in efficiency.
	Mr. Teston asked if there is a failure in panels, can they change out the panels without shutting down the system.  
	Mr. Fisher said they can change out panels live.  He reported that under the maintenance of the system, they would take one inverter off line at a time.
	Mr. Teston asked what is the failure rate of panels.
	Mr. Fisher said it is less than 1%.  
	Mrs. Moss asked Mr. Fisher who he prepared this presentation for.  .
	Mr. Fisher said the idea of locating solar was in the Airport Master Plan.  He said that he offered to do this early development at their own cost to show the City what it would mean to own a solar system.  
	Mrs. Moss said that she was trying to place this within the context of the Orlando Utilities Commission (OUC) contract and the Florida Municipal Power Association (FMPA) contract.  She asked when do these contracts end and what is the City required to spend on the OUC contract.  
	Mr. O’Connor said the FMPA contracts probably have 40 years, depending on the life of the St. Lucie Plant.  But, that is a small component.  The City’s power supply is really with OUC and the renegotiated contract expires in seven (7) years.  He noted that 23 megawatts would not be an issue.  
	Mrs. Drndak said the interest of the Airport is the lease of the land.  She asked the Utilities Commission members if they felt this would make sense for the City.  
	Mr. O’Connor noted that the two (2) options that are viable in this are two (2) options the City extricated themselves from and he not sure ready to jump back into that hot oil again.   
	Mr. Dick Winger, Councilmember, said the current cost of acquired power is about $71 and they are not satisfied with that cost.  He said the City could do better if they didn’t have the contracts they have.  The City has been going in the direction of getting out of the power business.    
	Mrs. Moss said this information was very helpful and thanked the Airport Commission for inviting the Utilities Commission to today’s meeting.  She felt that if they were going to further explore this, that they have a joint Utilities/Finance Commission meeting.    
	3. PUBLIC COMMENT
	Mr. Tim Zorc, Indian River County Commissioner, said the goal of the Airport should be to increase revenue by renting property, but they should also look at things that drive down costs.  He said the County is looking to save $500,000 to $600,000 a year on their campus (County Building A and B and the Health Department Building) in electricity by installing a combined heat and power (CHP) system.  He noted that this is a 24 hour system so when the sun goes down the system still runs.  
	Mrs. Drndak reported that Mr. O’Connor wanted to address the Utilities Commission regarding a proposed Resolution.  
	Mr. O’Connor reported that he just received the proposed Resolution (on file in the City Clerk’s office) yesterday so he did not have time to vet it through the process (referring to a Resolution to express support for the construction of the Groveland Reservoir and Treatment area and requesting the St. John’s Water Management District (SJWMD) to protect and preserve the Florida Aquifer Public Water Supply by restricting withdrawals from the Floridan Aquifer for electric utility use).  He reported that there would be a Technical Staff Advisory Report that would be going before the Board of the SJWMD next week.  He reported that it was first believed that the City had until March 7, 2016 to submit their comments, but they have until April.   He asked the Utilities Commission to put this off until their next regularly scheduled meeting to allow the City to do their due diligence.     
	4. ADJOURNMENT
	Today’s Joint Airport Commission / Utilities Commission meeting adjourned at 11:49 a.m.  and the Airport Commission called their regular meeting to order at 12:04 p.m.
	/sp


<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /All
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Gray Gamma 2.2)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.6
  /CompressObjects /All
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket true
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.1000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /UseDeviceIndependentColor
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType true
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo false
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Remove
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile (North America Web/Internet)
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
    /Arial-Black
    /Arial-BlackItalic
    /Arial-BoldItalicMT
    /Arial-BoldMT
    /Arial-ItalicMT
    /ArialMT
    /ArialNarrow
    /ArialNarrow-Bold
    /ArialNarrow-BoldItalic
    /ArialNarrow-Italic
    /CenturyGothic
    /CenturyGothic-Bold
    /CenturyGothic-BoldItalic
    /CenturyGothic-Italic
    /CourierNewPS-BoldItalicMT
    /CourierNewPS-BoldMT
    /CourierNewPS-ItalicMT
    /CourierNewPSMT
    /Georgia
    /Georgia-Bold
    /Georgia-BoldItalic
    /Georgia-Italic
    /Impact
    /LucidaConsole
    /Tahoma
    /Tahoma-Bold
    /TimesNewRomanMT-ExtraBold
    /TimesNewRomanPS-BoldItalicMT
    /TimesNewRomanPS-BoldMT
    /TimesNewRomanPS-ItalicMT
    /TimesNewRomanPSMT
    /Trebuchet-BoldItalic
    /TrebuchetMS
    /TrebuchetMS-Bold
    /TrebuchetMS-Italic
    /Verdana
    /Verdana-Bold
    /Verdana-BoldItalic
    /Verdana-Italic
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 150
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 150
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 150
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 150
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.76
    /HSamples [2 1 1 2] /VSamples [2 1 1 2]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 15
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects true
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (None)
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<


    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e55464e1a65876863768467e5770b548c62535370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200036002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc666e901a554652d965874ef6768467e5770b548c52175370300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200036002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>



    /HUN <>
    /ITA (Utilizzare queste impostazioni per creare documenti Adobe PDF adatti per visualizzare e stampare documenti aziendali in modo affidabile. I documenti PDF creati possono essere aperti con Acrobat e Adobe Reader 6.0 e versioni successive.)
    /JPN <>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020be44c988b2c8c2a40020bb38c11cb97c0020c548c815c801c73cb85c0020bcf4ace00020c778c1c4d558b2940020b3700020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200036002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken waarmee zakelijke documenten betrouwbaar kunnen worden weergegeven en afgedrukt. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 6.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>


    /SKY <>

    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>

    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents suitable for reliable viewing and printing of business documents.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 6.0 and later.)
  >>
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [600 600]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


